1967

Carol Joan Stone v. Val Franklin Stone : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to modify the terms of a divorce decree and to award the custody of the four minor children to the father on the grounds that the mother is mentally incompetent and is otherwise unfit to care for them; and on the further grounds that the two oldest children, both over ten years of age, expressed a desire to live with their father. These proceedings also involve a motion pursuant to Rule 35 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to

have the mother of the minor children submit to a mental examination before a disinterested psychiatrist. (Tr. 13)

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Honorable Stewart M. Hanson found against the appellant on all issues.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

For the Supreme Court to reverse the decision of the trial judge on all issues, and to award the custody of all four children to their father.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case is one of first impression in the State of Utah and involves substantial rights of parents and minor children. It also brings before the court the issue of whether *Anderson v. Anderson*, 110 Utah 300, 172 P. 2d 132 (1946), has been modified by *Smith v. Smith*, 15 Utah 2d 36, P. 2d 900 (1963); and if it has not, then this instant case seeks clarification of the *Anderson* case as it pertains to children over ten years of age.

The parties herein were divorced in a decree signed on July 21, 1964, by the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, the same judge who presided at the

trial in the lower court in the instant case. (Tr. 5-6) At that time, the trial court awarded the care, custody, and control of the four minor children to the mother, the respondent herein. (Tr. 5) The children are all boys, and their names and ages at the time of the hearing in June of 1966 were as follows: Randall, born October 24, 1953, age 12; Richard, born March 13, 1955, age 11; Bret and Bart, born January 11, 1959, age 7. (Tr. 7). The father was ordered to pay \$240.00 per month as alimony and child support (Tr. 8); and the record discloses that these payments were promptly made each and every month. (Tr. 108). In addition to these payments, the father spent time at the former residence assisting in taking care of the children when needed, and helping around the house and yard. (Tr. 108, 175).

In April, 1965, the father remarried. His new wife Lynell had three children from a previous marriage, two girls and one boy. The ages for the two girls were 13 and 7 and the boy was 9 at the time of the proceedings in the instant case. (Tr. 87-88). Their ages were about the same as the four minor children involved in this action, whose ages were 12, 11, and 7.

The record shows that the respondent had a nervous breakdown during 1958-1960 and had not been able to take care of the children. (Tr. 118, Line 21 — Tr. 124; Tr. 131, Lines 9 et seq.). She had moved from her old neighborhood because she

felt that the neighbors were spying on her. (Tr. 119, Lines 8-18). After moving into the new home, her condition worsened and she claimed that she had a tape recorder embedded into the back of her head which was recording what she was thinking, that her telephone had been tapped and people were spying on her; and that people were parked in cars watching her. (Tr. 120) In 1960 she went into the hospital for shock treatments (Tr. 120-121). The first of these did not help but after a little time she improved and by the time of the divorce in 1964 was sufficiently better so the father decided not to contest the custody of the children. (Tr. 121).

Matters remained in this state until after the remarriage of the father in the summer of 1965 when the old symptoms reappeared (Tr. 121, Lines 12-15). The mother began complaining of headaches again and said she felt that people were spying on her. (Tr. 121, Lines 14-25). She thought the neighbors again were against her and she became very depressed. She told her husband that she thought she had a tape recorder in her head about the first part of 1966 which was some five or six months after the first symptoms appeared (Tr. 122, Lines 1-2). During this time she was unable to recognize her children. Her statements to her husband about this are as follows:

“Q Did she ever tell you Mr. Stone that she did not recognize her children?

A Yes sir. She has told me occasionally on

several occasions that she just no longer could recognize the children all the time.

Q And when would these be, and what would be the circumstances?

A Well, one time in particular was a Saturday morning. I went out to pick up the children, and she just said, 'Well, you can take these children, but I don't think these little ones are mine.' She said the other day, 'I am sure they sent home the wrong children from school and I was just about to send them back and one of my neighbors convinced me that they were my children so I let them stay here.' " (Tr. 122, Lines 3-16.)

One of the mother's neighbors who lived just across the street, and who had been in the mother's home several times testified that the mother told her that she didn't believe the younger twins were hers. This situation occurred in January of 1966, and as stated by the witness was as follows:

"Q Has Mrs. Stone ever told you that she didn't believe that the two youngest children, the twins, were hers?

A Yes, she did.

Q And can you tell us about that situation, please?

A Well, at the time she said she was very upset. I don't know what caused the situation to come about.

Q When was this Mrs. Close?

A This was about the 5th of January.

Q Of this year?

A Of this year.

Q All right, what happened then?

A I had been over visiting with Carol and I was just helping and visiting with her, and I left about 1:30 that afternoon, the children, I don't know if they were home from school, or what the deal was, but I had to go home, and she had gone over to visit with another neighbor, and she was quite upset and the neighbor had called me over because I had been with Carol that day.

Q Who was the neighbor, Mrs. Close?

A Mrs. Lavon Marler. And the children were in primary and I really don't remember everything that happened except that she was worried about the twins.

Q Who was worried about the twins?

A Carol was worried about the twins. They were in primary, and she wanted to make sure they were there, and she was upset, and I said 'I will take you over', so I took her over to primary and got the twins and brought them out to my car, and she just didn't think they were her children.

Q What did she say to you?

A She asked me if I thought the twins were hers, and I said, 'Of course they are yours,' and I tried to reassure her that they were hers, and I told her the twins knew me, and that if they didn't know

me I was quite sure that they would not get into my car or come with me when I got them out.

Q Did she say this in the presence of the two twins?

A Yes, she did. (Tr. 153-155)

This witness went on to testify that the mother told her that she felt that some of the people in the neighborhood were against her and that she thought there was a tape recorder set up in her house or a microphone and that the things she did and said were being recorded. (Tr. 156). None of this testimony of either the father or the neighbors was denied or controverted by the mother who did not take the stand nor offer any witnesses.

The record discloses that the mother would just sit and stare and would become very depressed and moody. (Tr. 156-157) The mother stated to the father and to several neighbors that the two oldest boys were too much for her to handle; that she couldn't discipline them and that she felt that they should be living with their father (Tr. 126, 152-153; 181-182) The neighbors became so concerned about the mother's depression and neglect in the home that they went to the mother's bishop and asked him to go to talk to her. (Tr. 157, 164, 180). Her illness persisted from the summer of 1965 to later than April, 1966. (Tr. 121, Lines 14-15; Tr. 183, 184)

During this time, the mother was under the care of Jack L. Tedrow, M.D., with offices at 975

East First South, Salt Lake City, Utah. Dr. Tedrow was a physician and surgeon specializing in psychiatry, (Tr. 187). He stated that he had seen the mother continuously since her nervous breakdown in 1960 averaging several visits a year and that the last time he had seen her was on January 14, 1966. (Tr. 199). Dr. Tedrow stated that he felt the mother was suffering from a mental illness known as schizophrenia (Tr. 191-192), and recommended she be hospitalized in the LDS hospital psychiatric ward for further examination. (Tr. 125-126) The mother called the father and asked him if he would take the children while she went into the hospital to which he readily agreed. (Tr. 125-126)

The appellant testified that the mother's symptoms were the same from the summer of 1965 through April of 1966, as those exhibited in 1960 during her first nervous breakdown. He stated that he did not think that she was capable of taking care of the children or her house during these times. (Tr. 131) The father stated that just a few weeks prior to the time of the trial in June 1966, when he returned the children to their mother that her eyes were glassy and had kind of a fixed stare expression. He noticed that her hair had not been combed and that her body was shaking. She appeared to be extremely nervous (Tr. 130-131). He further stated that during the time shortly before and after these proceedings were commenced that the children were

neglected in the house, that the house was a mess, that food was spilled in the rooms, that the children were never clean, that he and his present wife had to bathe the children when they took them on Saturdays for visitation, and that they had to wash their clothes and feed them breakfast even though they were not picked up until about 9:30 in the morning. (Tr. 118, 139).

For some reason, the mother decided against going into the hospital. It was this decision that precipitated the present lawsuit which was commenced March 31, 1966. (Tr. 12-15) At the first hearing held on Friday, April 8, 1966, the mother's attorney stated that he was not ready to hear this matter and asked for a continuance. This was objected to by the father's counsel on the grounds that a hazard existed in the mother's home and that it would be detrimental to the children to allow them to remain in the home any longer while the mother was in her present mental state. The trial judge, JOSEPH G. JEPPSON, overruled this objection, continued the matter in all aspects and sent the case to pretrial.

Judge Leonard W. Elton held the pretrial on May 5, 1966, and based upon the representation of the mother's counsel, that he could not be ready for trial before a certain date, the case was set for a two day trial before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson beginning June 14, 1966. (Tr. 35).

The pre-trial judge formulated the issues as follows:

- “(1) Whether the plaintiff is mentally incompetent to take care of the four minor children.
 - (2) Whether the plaintiff is otherwise unfit to take care of the four minor children.
 - (3) Whether pursuant to Rule 35 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, there is sufficient cause for the plaintiff to submit to psychiatric, physical examination.
 - (4) Should the court decide the plaintiff should be examined by a disinterested impartial physician the examining physician will be entitled to all medical records pertaining to the person being examined. Counsel for the plaintiff objects to the furnishing of all medical records, which objection was overruled.
 - (5) Whether the plaintiff is in contempt of the divorce decree heretofore entered in this matter for her failure to grant the defendant reasonable visitation rights with respect to the four children.
 - (6) After the issue of custody is decided then the trial court should decide the issue of what are reasonable visitation rights. (Tr. 36)
- * * *
- (7) Whether the four minor children or any of them will select the defendant as the parent with whom they wish to reside permanently.
 - (8) If any child does so select the defendant, whether that decision is binding on the

trial court as to which parent should have custody of that child (Tr. 38-39).

The court then added five more issues for the plaintiff as follows:

- (1) Whether the defendant is mentally incompetent to take care of the four minor children.
- (2) Whether the defendant is otherwise unfit to take care of the four minor children.
- (3) Whether pursuant to Rule 35 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, there is sufficient cause for the defendant to submit to psychiatric and physical examination.
- (4) Whether or not the defendant has established a suitable home with his new wife and whether his present wife is a suitable person to have these children.
- (5) Whether the plaintiff's counsel is entitled to attorneys fees and the amount thereof in defense of this action. (Tr. 37).

The first four issues raised by the mother were decided against her by her own stipulation in court. This stipulation was to the effect that the father and his present wife were capable in all respects to care for the minor children. This stipulation was made in open court and was recorded in the trial record as follows:

“THE RECORD MAY SHOW THAT HE

(plaintiff's counsel) HAS STIPULATED THAT BOTH HE (the defendant) AND HIS WIFE ARE FIT AND PROPER AND MORAL PERSONS AND PROPER PERSONS TO RAISE THE CHILDREN." (Tr. 202, Lines 20-22)

This stipulation made it unnecessary to call character witnesses who were present in court and ready to testify. (Tr. 202).

At the trial, the defendant called the father, his present wife, four neighbors of the plaintiff, and the plaintiff's psychiatrist as a hostile witness. Character witnesses were present but were not needed because of the stipulation cited above. The father then rested.

The mother did not take the stand, nor did she offer any witnesses in her behalf, nor did she offer any evidence to rebut the statements made by the father's witnesses as set forth above in this statement of facts.

The trial judge then ordered the children to be present the next day. That night the mother's attorney called the mother and the two oldest children into his office for a "brainwashing" session. What occurred at that meeting is described by the oldest boy Randall to the trial judge as follows:

"Q You have never talked to your mother's attorney?

A Yes.

Q When did you talk to him?

A Yesterday night.

Q What did you tell him?

A Well, he talked to me about school and that.

Q Did he tell you what to say down here?

A Today? unh unh.

Q Just tell me what you remember him telling you?

A I remember him telling me that my mom-my needs me and knowing that I should stay where I live. I guess that is what he said. And he said, 'I think that you will stay where you are.'" (Tr. 214-215)

In spite of this attempt, the two oldest boys told the trial judge they would rather live with their father than with their mother and gave their reasons for so deciding. (Tr. 210, Lines 14-20; Tr. 212, Lines 12-14; Tr. 217, lines 1-13).

The court then issued its memorandum decision finding against the father on all issues. (Tr. 46-47, 51) Counsel for the mother then submitted his proposed "Finding of Fact," Conclusions of Law, and a Decree (Tr. 54-59) to which written objections were filed on several grounds. (Tr. 60-63). The father also made an offer of proof that if the mother's psychiatrist had been permitted to testify about the mother's mental condition, (The Doctor-patient privilege had been invoked by the mother and sustained by the trial judge) he would have said the mother

was mentally incompetent to take care of the four minor children and that in his opinion the mother should be required to submit to further psychiatric examination and should be hospitalized for further treatment because of her condition. He would further testify that her condition was not good for the welfare of the minor children and that it would have an adverse effect upon their said welfare (Tr. 62-63). A hearing was had on the said objections and motion after which the trial judge signed the Findings, Conclusions, and Decree and refused to allow the offer of proof.

I.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN NOT GRANTING CUSTODY OF THE TWO OLDEST BOYS TO THEIR FATHER, BECAUSE THESE BOYS WERE OVER THE AGE OF TEN YEARS AND BECAUSE THESE BOYS HAD STATED TO THEIR FATHER AND TO THE TRIAL JUDGE THAT THEY WANTED TO LIVE WITH THEIR FATHER.

The trial judge stated in his memorandum decision as follows:

“(4) The court is of the opinion that even though the two oldest children expressed a desire to be with their father, that expression is not binding upon this court. This court is of the opinion that the case of *Smith vs. Smith* in 15 Utah 2d does not apply to this case, and that the court is governed by the case of *Anderson v. Anderson* found in 110 Utah.” (Tr. 46)

The oldest boy, Randall, age 12, made the following statement to the trial judge about who he wanted to live with and why:

“Q Has your daddy ever asked you to come and live with him?

A Yes.

Q And what did you tell him?

A I told him I wanted to.

Q You told him that you wanted to go and live with him?

A Yes.

Q Did he promise you anything when he asked you to come and live with him?

A No.

Q He didn't promise you a bike, or a pony or fishing trips or anything?

A No.” (Tr. 210)

* * *

“Q And what has your father ever said about your mother?

A I haven't heard him say anything.

Q He has never said anything about her.

A I've never heard him.

Q But you say that you would rather live with your father than your mother?

A Yes.

Q Tell me why.

A Well, because I haven't seen my father

for so long and I want to see him.” (Tr. 212)

This minor child, Randall, then went on to state that he knew his father’s present wife’s three children and wanted to have them as his brothers and sisters (Tr. 213)

The trial judge’s questions to the minor child Ricky, age 11, were as follows:

“Q Do you want to spend more time with your father?

A Yes.

Q How much more time? You tell me. Would you like to go and live with your father?

A Yes.

Q Rather than your mother? And why? You’ve got to help me Ricky, you’ve got to tell me. Has your father ever told you that he would like to have you come and live with him?

A Yes.

Q Have you told him that you would like to go live with him?

A Yes.” (Tr. 217)

This child also said that he would like to have the defendant’s present wife’s three children as his brothers and sisters. (Tr. 219)

The record further discloses that these two oldest boys had also told their father shortly after

the proceedings had commenced that they wanted to come and live with him. The father's testimony in this regard and which is not disputed by the mother is as follows:

“Q Have your children or any of them ever told you that they wanted to come and live with you and Lynell in the house.

A Yes sir, my two oldest sons have expressed that desire.

Q Who are they?

A Randall Stone and Richard Stone.

Q Can you tell us when it was that they expressed this desire and where it was and what was said?

A I was made aware of this whole situation the first part of this year when we had two visits with the bishop, with Carol's bishop in our home.

Q Let me ask you what the children said to you.

A The children?

Q Yes.

A They said they would rather come up and live with me than where they are now living.

Q When was this Mr. Stone?

A It has been in the last two months.

Q In the last two months?

A Yes.

Q Did they say that to you prior to the time that the proceedings were started?

A No sir, they didn't tell me before we started proceedings.

Q Did you ever talk to the children and tell them how they should testify before the judge?

A No sir, I haven't." (Tr. 116)

On cross-examination the father clarified this conversation with his two oldest children.

"Q (By Mr. Schaerrer) Now in regard to these children telling you that they wanted to come and live with you.

A Yes sir.

Q Your testimony was that they never told you that until you started these proceedings, is that correct?

A Yes sir, that is correct.

Q Didn't you go to them and tell them that they should make up their minds if they wanted to come and live with you.

A No sir, not until after the proceedings were started.

Q But then you told them that?

A I asked the two older boys who they would like to live with.

Q And did they tell you that?

A Did they tell me what?

Q Did they tell me who they wanted to live with?

- A Yes sir, they have.
- Q How much longer, how many. When you told them to make up their minds, how long did it take them to answer that question?
- A Randall, it took him from one week.
- Q And you were having several talks with him during this period of time?
- A No, sir; just from Saturday to Saturday is all. I told him not to make up his mind immediately because I knew it was a serious decision and that I would like him to make it, and if he possibly could to make a decision.
- Q And you told him you would like him to come and live with you?
- A I reminded him how much I did love him, and yes, I wanted him to come and live with me." (Tr. 143)

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