1967

Carol Joan Stone v. Val Franklin Stone : Respondent's Brief On Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by a father to modify the terms of a divorce decree by changing the custody of four minor children from the mother to the father.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, Judge of the Third Judicial District, who found all issues in favor of the mother, and refused to grant the change of custody.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent requests that the decision of the trial

court be affirmed, and that respondent be awarded reasonable attorney's fees for the expenses of defending this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Carol Joan Stone and Val Franklin Stone were married on March 13, 1952. There were four children born of that marriage, Randall, presently age 13, Richard, age 11, and twins, Bret and Bart, age 8.

In 1961, difficulties arose in the marriage. During that time, the father admits striking the mother and she was either knocked down or she slipped and fell down, and also admits beating the children with clothes hangers (R. 133). The father admits that he knew his actions were upsetting to the mother, and that he also made repeated threats to take her children from her, knowing that it was terribly upsetting to her (R. 135).

A divorce was granted to the mother July 21, 1964, on the grounds of mental cruelty, and it was found by the court that the father had treated her cruelly, had become unaffectionate toward her, had told her he no longer loved her, had refused to live with her, and this had been caused by no fault of hers. In spite of the fact that the father had been repeatedly requested to discontinued such conduct he refused to do so (R. 8). Prior to the divorce, the father and his new wife were working at the same place and frequently he would pick her up on 21st South Street and take her to work (R. 104).

The new Mrs. Stone was divorced in 1963 and has three children, two girls, age 13 and 7, and a boy age 9. In April, 1965, the father married the new wife and took on the obligations of her three children. He admits that from that time on, he never offered to help his ex-wife in the raising of his children, except for the payment of support (R. 137).

The father brought this action less than a year after his new marriage, and alleges that the mother is mentally ill. He admitted, however, on cross-examination, that he knew that she had a physical problem all of the time (R. 137). He knew that his wife had been examined by her family doctor and was told that she had a blood sugar problem called hypoglycemia. Hypoglycemia is an abnormally diminished content of glucose in the blood, giving the same general symptoms associated with sugar diabetes (R. 187-9). The father testified that he knew that the mother was taking pills for the problem, and had told him that she was feeling much better prior to his filing the action (R. 137).

The father admits that the mother has done a good job in caring for the children. He did not contest the divorce or attempt to obtain custody of the children at that time. The father further stated on cross-examination that the mother was doing a good job raising the children until approximately September 1965 (R. 146-7). He further stated that since the action was initiated in March 1966, she has been doing a real job (R. 146). The only period the father complains about is the Fall of 1965 and January and February 1966 (R. 147). He

further admitted that the children were doing well in school, that they were active in Sunday School and Scout activities, and that he knew the mother had taken the children two or three times a week on picnics to the park, and swimming, and had gone fishing and camping over night on several occasions with them (R. 146).

Though the father claims that the mother was mentally incompetent from September 1965, to January 1966, the evidence in no way substantiated this claim. After Dr. Anderson diagnosed her problem as hypoglycemia and prescribed drugs, the temporary difficulty of the mother was corrected. All of the witnesses, both medical and neighbors, testified that the children were properly cared for and never neglected by the mother. Dr. Jack Tedro, a physician and surgeon, specializing in psychiatry, testified that a person with hypoglycemia would not be able to recognize members of his own family at times, and that a person could believe that he had a tape recorder in his head and still do a pretty good job with the family without having the children suffer under these conditions (R. 191-3). Dr. Tedro further testified that the mother had done a worthwhile job with the children in the last six years, and it would be very disturbing to her if the children were taken from her (R. 200). Dr. Tedro never at any time said that Mrs. Stone had schizophrenia as represented in appellant's brief, nor is there any evidence showing that he recommended hospitalization in the L.D.S. Hospital psychiatric ward as appellant has claimed.

Four neighbors substantiate the fact that the chil-

dren were never neglected by their mother. Mrs. Marjorie Jones, a neighbor of six years, testified that only once did the mother state to her that she had a difficult time with the children, and that she could think out things clearly, that the only difficult period was between October 1965 to February 1966. She further testified that prior to that time, things were perfectly normal, and since February, the mother appeared perfectly normal. She further testified that the children always appeared to be normal, well dressed, well fed, clean, well adjusted in the neighborhood, and active in church and scout work (R. 170-172).

Mr. Teddy Jones testified that he had lived right next door to the mother for six years, that he had observed the children, and that they were not in any way different from any other children in the neighborhood, that they were well clothed and clean (R. 177).

Jeanine Snider, a neighbor of five years, testified that the mother had done an excellent job with the children. She testified that she was aware that Carol had had a diabetic problem during October 1965 to March 1966, and that she was taking pills for this problem. She observed that the children were not hungry, that they were properly dressed, well adjusted, clean, and not dirtier than any other children in the neighborhood. She also testified that she knew they were active in church and considered Mrs. Stone a good mother (R. 182-5).

Madelon Close, also a neighbor of six years, who had lived directly across the street from the mother testified that the only difficulty she observed was from

October 1965 to January 1966, and that she had been much better since January 1966. She further testified that the children were dressed like all other children in the neighborhood, and that she had never observed the children being hungry or neglected in any way (R. 161).

All of the children testified concerning the fine care they received from their mother. Randall, age 13, testified that he knew his mother loved him, that she fed him well, and that he had a good breakfast, lunch and dinner every day (R. 215). Ricky, age 11, stated that his mother had taken them swimming and fishing many times, and that his mother stays home and takes care of him (R. 218-20). The two younger children, age 7, also testified that their mother fed them well, kept them clean, and washed them (R. 222-3).

In spite of the excellent care given to these children, the father requested the court to grant him custody of his four sons and place them in a new home with limited supervision. The father's new wife testified that she had worked continuously since high school, and that her children had been cared for five days a week in nursery schools, or by someone coming into the home and caring for them (R. 89). She further testified that her seven-year old child had not been living in her home from January until June, 1966, and gave the reason as an illness she had in January (R. 91). Her mother had taken the child to ease her work load (R. 96). The child was enrolled in school in Pleasant Grove in January and remained there the rest of the year (R. 95). The new wife, however, continued to work, having lost only one

week from her employment at Litton Industries for the illness. The new wife testified that she was presently allowing her 13-year-old daughter to tend her children at home, and this notwithstanding the fact that she and her husband leave for work at 7:15 A.M. and do not return until after 4:30 P.M. (R. 90). This required the children to get themselves ready for school, prepare their own breakfast and go to school without the aid of either parent, and return without their parents being home (R. 90). The new Mrs. Stone also testified that she had been nervous prior to her marriage with Mr. Stone and had sought medical attention for aches and pains in her points and hands the entire year proceeding the trial. She testified that she sought medical attention at least once a week for the past year (R. 96-99). The new Mrs. Stone also testified that she would have to continue to work indefinitely as she did now, and this in order to take care of present bills and obligations (R. 104). Her nine-year old child, Richard, also has a health problem and requires private tutoring (R. 92).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

AFTER AN AWARD OF CUSTODY IS MADE BY THE DIVORCE COURT, A CHILD UPON REACHING THE AGE OF TEN YEARS DOES NOT HAVE AN ABSOLUTE RIGHT TO CHANGE THE ORDER OF CUSTODY.

The record in this case discloses that the two older boys, Randall, age 12, and Richard, age 11, while testi-

fyng that they loved their mother and that she took good care of them, indicated that they would prefer to live with their father because they hadn't seen him for so long and wanted to spend more time with him. Thus the legal question arises as to whether such preference is absolutely binding upon the trial court. This issue involves an interpretation of §30-3-5 Utah Code Annotated 1953 which provides as follows:

“When a decree of divorce is made the court may make such orders in relation to the children, property and parties, and the maintenance of the parties and children, as may be equitable; provided, that if any of the children have attained the age of 10 years and are of sound mind, such children shall have the privilege of selecting the parent to which they will attach themselves. Such subsequent changes or new orders may be made by the court with respect to the disposal of the children or the distribution of property as shall be reasonable and proper.”

Contrary to what appellant states in his brief, this is not a case of first impression in the State of Utah, the law already having been clearly decided, both in the case of an original divorce proceeding and in the case of a subsequent order for modification.

With respect to the original decree, the court in a split decision in *Smith vs. Smith*, 15 Utah 2d 36, 386 P.2d 900, found that it was obliged to construe the statute literally, and that the child's decision was binding upon the court.

With respect to a subsequent modification of the

decree, which is the case here, the court in the case of *Anderson vs. Anderson*, 110 Utah 300, 172 P.2d 132, also interpreted the statute literally and held that the decision of the child is not absolutely binding upon the trial court. In so holding, the court stated as follows:

“The italicized portion thereof, as set out hereinabove, is a limitation on the power of the court to award custody of a child ‘at the time the decree is made’ to a parent not of the child’s choice, where both parents are found to be fit to have such custody. The proviso modifies the first portion of the sentence of which it is a part. As to change of custody subsequent to the decree, the statute states that orders relative thereto shall be dictated by what is ‘reasonable and proper’.”

Not only would the position of appellant herein require an over-ruling of the *Anderson vs. Anderson* case, but such position is contrary to good reason and common sense. Justice Crockett in his dissenting opinion in the *Smith vs. Smith* case, *supra*, makes the following comment:

“Under such a rule, parents already too deeply immersed in woes because the family is breaking up would have them added to by having to compete with each other for the children’s choice. Without elaborating thereon it is easy to see the hazards to them and to the child this would create. Such a battle might well go to the more unscrupulous parent, who may not be above poisoning the child’s mind against the other; or resorting to coercion; or showering him with ill-advised gifts or favors. Even more damaging would be the subjecting of a child to such pressures and making him a pawn in the contest of the spouses for his custody. It is extremely doubt-

ful that under such circumstances a child of that age would have the stability and judgment to see through the maze of troubles and make a wise choice. In some instances it would be cruel to subject him to it and wholly unrealistic to regard his choice as absolute.”

The dangers that Justice Crockett refers to are far more real and apparent in the change of custody case than in the case of the original divorce. At least in the latter, once the decision is made, the parties can accept it and live with it, while in the former, the child would in many cases be under constant pressure from either one parent or the other to change his mind. It would be cruel indeed to place a child in such a position.

Often it is necessary to discipline a child; or to deprive a child of something he desires; or require the child to do things in the furtherance of his education which the child does not wish to do. In these matters a child under the law has a duty to obey his parents. Certainly it is not in the best interests of either society or the child to put an immature 10-year-old child in such a position that he can be absolutely relieved of his duties and obligations to a parent upon his own choice, or that he be placed in a position where he can use that choice as a threat against a well-meaning parent to make demands upon the parent, or to be relieved of unpleasant responsibilities which would otherwise be for his best good.

There is no reason for the *Anderson vs. Anderson* case to be over-ruled.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO CHANGE THE ORDER OF CUSTODY.

This court has held on many occasions that the paramount consideration in determining the question of custody of children is the welfare of the children; further, that the trial court has broad discretion in making that determination, and its ruling will not be upset unless there is plain abuse. *Walton vs. Coffman*, 110 Utah 1, 169 P.2d 97; *Anderson vs. Anderson*, 110 Utah 300, 172 P.2d 132; *Sampsell vs. Holt*, 115 Utah 73, 202 P.2d 550; *Smith vs. Smith*, 1 Utah 2d 75, 262 P.2d 283; *Steiger vs. Steiger*, 4 Utah 2d 273, 293 P.2d 418; *Johnson vs. Johnson*, 7 Utah 2d 263, 323 P.2d 16; *Briggs vs. Briggs*, 111 Utah 418, 181 P.2d 223.

As is documented by the statement of facts herein, the witnesses overwhelmingly testified that Mrs. Stone was a good mother; that she took excellent care of the children; and that the children were all well-adjusted in their school, church and other activities. Because of the overwhelming nature of this testimony from appellant's own witnesses, respondent found it unnecessary to put on further testimony, and rested her case without calling any further witnesses.

It is understandable why the trial court found that it was in the best interests of the four minor children that they remain under the fine care and supervision they had received from their mother, who spends her

entire time in the care of the children. Particularly is this understandable when the alternative would be to place the children in the home of a step-mother who is employed and away from her home during the day, thereby leaving the boys, some of which are in their early teens, in the unwholesome position of being left alone with children of the step-mother, among which are girls of their own age. While respondent does not wish to question the integrity or the moral character of Mr. Stone or his new wife, nevertheless it would seem unwise to remove the children from a home in which they are well-adjusted and well cared for, and place them in a home where their future adjustment is an unknown factor.

It is true that a mother has no absolute right to the custody of minor children. However, this court has held on numerous occasions that in the absence of a showing that the mother is immoral or unfit, and all other things being equal, preference should be given the mother in awarding custody. *Johnson vs. Johnson*, 7 Utah 2d 263, 323 P.2d 16; *Steiger vs. Steiger*, 4 Utah 2d 273, 293 P.2d 418; *Cooke vs. Cooke*, 67 Utah 371, 248 Pac. 83; *Briggs vs. Briggs*, 111 Utah 418, 181 P.2d 223. Appellant has made no showing whatsoever which would rebut this presumption in favor of the mother, or otherwise shown that the trial court abused its discretion. The bold claim of mental incompetency of the mother is absolutely unsupported by the evidence, and respondent would invite the court to carefully scrutinize the record in this regard.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN REFUSING TO REQUIRE RESPONDENT TO SUBMIT TO A MENTAL EXAMINATION.

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